Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-27-2014

Big Wood Ranch, LLC v. Water Users' Ass'n of Broadford Slough and Rockwell Bypass Lateral Ditches, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41265

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This action involves a claim by Respondent, Water Users' Association of the Broadford Slough and Rockwell Bypass Lateral Ditches, Inc. ("Association"), that Appellant, Big Wood Ranch, LLC ("BWR"), failed to pay dues allegedly owed to the Association for the Association's maintenance of the Broadford Slough and Rockwell Bypass, which are conduits for the delivery of surface water to property owned by BWR and some of its neighbors. The Association claims that, by virtue of maintaining and operating diversion works on the Broadford Slough and Rockwell Bypass, it was responsible for delivery of BWR's surface water during the years 2006 through 2012, thus, BWR must compensate the Association for its services by paying Association dues.

BWR has refused to pay any Association dues on the basis that the Association is not validly formed under Idaho Code § 42-1301 *et seq.*, the statutory scheme governing formation of lateral ditch water users' associations. BWR commenced this action to obtain a declaration that the Association is not validly formed and, thus, has no right to seek dues under Section 42-1301 *et seq.* BWR successfully moved to have a separate collections action the Association filed against it in small claims court consolidated with this action.

BWR's position is that the Association's alleged maintenance of the Broadford Slough does not provide a basis for the Association to act under Section 42-1301 because the Slough is a natural waterway, and Section 42-1301 is inapplicable because it only applies to artificial waterways (specifically, laterals or ditches). BWR's position is also that the Association's

alleged maintenance of the Rockwell Bypass (which is separate and distinct from the Slough) is not a basis for the Association to act under Section 42-1301 because, although the Bypass is an artificial waterway, maintenance of the Bypass has been judicially decreed to be the responsibility of other water rights owners, who do not include BWR. Because it has been judicially determined that other water rights owners are responsible for maintenance of the Rockwell Bypass, the Association cannot rely upon its maintenance of the Bypass to justify its assessment of dues against BWR under the auspice of Section 42-1301.

Alternatively, even assuming *arguendo* that the Association is validly formed, BWR owes no dues because it opted out of membership in the Association when BWR made it clear to the Association that it had no intention of paying any Association dues when BWR first learned of the Association and its attempt to issue assessments.

The Association filed a counterclaim also seeking, *inter alia*, a declaration of the parties' respective rights and obligations under Idaho Code § 42-1301 *et seq.* In its Counterclaim, the Association contends that BWR is an Association member simply by virtue of BWR purchasing its Property and accepting delivery of surface water from the Association. It contends that BWR is delinquent in paying assessments issued for 2006 through 2012 in the sum of \$7,550.

After cross motions were filed for summary judgment on the issue of whether the Association is validly formed, the District Court granted summary judgment to the Association, declaring that the Association is validly formed and authorized to act accordingly. A bench trial was held to resolve several issues, including: (1) whether BWR could, and did in fact, "opt out" of membership in the Association; (2) whether BWR made an express request, via its authorized

agent, for water to be delivered by the Association to BWR's Property; (3) whether it was the Association (as opposed to someone else) who was responsible for delivery of BWR's surface water, thereby conferring a benefit on BWR that BWR must pay for; and (4) assuming it was the Association who delivered BWR's water, what amount is due and owing by BWR for the Association's delivery of this water.

After the bench trial, the District Court entered written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Judgment in the Association's favor in the amount of \$9,500, representing the amount of delinquent assessments, plus statutory penalties and interest. BWR filed a timely motion to alter or amend the judgment, which was granted in part, but the amendments made did not change the overall relief granted to the Association, which is a money judgment in the amount of unpaid assessments, penalties, interest and the Association's attorney's fees and costs.

BWR appeals the District Court's summary judgment ruling that the Association is validly formed on the grounds that said ruling is premised on an erroneous legal conclusion that the Broadford Slough is a "canal" (or artificial waterway), rather than a natural waterway for purposes of Section 42-1301. BWR also appeals the District Court's alternative grounds for granting judgment to the Association, specifically, its erroneous conclusions that: (1) an express contract existed between the parties for the delivery of water; or alternatively, (2) the doctrines of unjust enrichment and/or quantum meruit apply, requiring that BWR pay the Association for the services it rendered in delivering BWR's water.

3

B. Statement of Facts

The Association was formed in May 2002. Its Articles of Incorporation ("Articles") indicate it was formed pursuant to Idaho Code, Title 30, Chapter 3 (the Idaho Non-Profit Corporations Act) and Idaho Code, Title 42, Chapter 13 (Lateral Ditch Water Users' Associations) for the purpose of transacting "any lawful activity, including, without limitation, the ownership, operation and maintenance of the Broadford Slough and Rockwell Bypass lateral ditches located in Blaine County, Idaho." Clerk's Record ("R.") Vol. II, pp. 206-7, Art. V. According to one of the Association's founders and current secretary/treasurer, Marc Reinemann, the primary impetus for formation of the Association was the lack of surface water available from the Rockwell Bypass in 2001 to satisfy water rights held by landowner, Spence Eccles, for his property known as Window Rock Ranch, which is located several miles downstream from BWR's property. Trial transcript ("Supp'l Tr."), 47:9-50:5.1

The Articles also provide that Association membership shall be evidenced by certificates of membership. R. Vol. II, p. 206, Art. II & p. 207, Art. VI. Yet, no certificates of membership were issued to BWR, or to any other alleged members, until after this lawsuit was filed. R. Vol. II, p. 222 (Reinemann Depo., 38:18-39:17). BWR has never consented, verbally or in writing, to be an Association member. Supp'l Tr., 291:10-13; R. Vol. II, 217:9-12.

Despite references to the contrary made in the Articles of Incorporation, it is undisputed that the Association does not own any surface water rights, property rights, easements rights or

¹ The following convention is used to cite to, for example, lines 10 through 15 on page 208 of the Clerk's Record or Reporter's Transcript: 208:10-15.

otherwise in the Broadford Slough or the Rockwell Bypass, nor did the Association construct the Slough or Bypass. R. Vol. II, 215:20-24 & 216:6-7.

In or about July 2006, BWR paid valuable consideration for the purchase of certain real property known as 303 Broadford Road, Bellevue, Idaho (the "Property"). Included in the rights associated with ownership of the Property are certain surface water rights to water that has, for decades, been conveyed to the Property via the Rockwell Bypass. None of the transaction documents related to purchase (e.g., the warranty deed or title report) identified or made any reference to the Association. R. Vol. II, pp. 227-247.² BWR had no notice of the existence of the Association when it purchased the Property in 2006, and did not become aware of the Association's existence until approximately 2009. ³ Supp'l Tr., 287:22-289:4.⁴

² This is because, as the Association openly admits, it deliberately chose not to record evidence of its existence when it formed in 2002 because it was unclear to its founders whether the Association was legally valid pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-1301 *et seq.* Supp'l Tr., 102; 10-21. In fact, even at the time of trial, nothing had been recorded to provide notice of the Association's existence. *Id.*

³ The exact date is in dispute. The Association claims it sent its first invoice to BWR in late 2007, but admits initially having trouble locating BWR by mail. Supp'l Tr., 100:25-101:7 & 375:11-15.

The Rockwell Bypass, which the Association purportedly maintains, is an artificial waterway constructed in approximately 1936 by Irvin Rockwell in order to develop Big Wood River surface water rights. R. Vol. II, pp. 248-52. The Big Wood River developed water rights-also referred to by the parties here as the "Rockwell Bypass Saved Water Rights" 5--were gained through construction of the Bypass and were first recognized in a 1949 court order entered in *Rockwell v. Coffin*, filed in the Fourth Judicial District of the State of Idaho, Blaine County ("Rockwell decree"). *Id.* at pp. 248-62.

⁴ Based on BWR's lack of notice, BWR argued below that it was a bona fide purchaser against whom the Association could not assert a claim to recover Association dues. Pl's Trial Memo. filed 11/8/12, pp. 9-12, included in augmentation to Clerk's Record pursuant to Court's 2/10/14 Order. The District Court rejected this argument, R. Vol. II, pp. 398-99 (FF # 20), on the basis that, even in the absence of notice, actions subsequently taken by the parties following BWR's purchase support a finding that BWR is liable to pay Association dues based upon the alternate theories of an express contract, unjust enrichment, quantum meruit or Section 42-1301. *Id.* at p. 401 (CL #3). As explained below, because none of these legal theories are supported by the record, this Court should conclude that BWR's status as a bona fide purchaser is yet another reason to set aside the Association's judgment.

⁵ The terms "saved" and "developed" water rights are used synonymously. The individuals who own the Rockwell Bypass Saved Water Rights are referred to herein as the "Rockwell Bypass Saved Water Rights Owners."

The *Rockwell* decree includes a provision requiring the plaintiffs in that case to "maintain ... said Rockwell By-Pass from the entrance thereof at the entrance crib therefor to its discharge into the Broadford Slough Stream." R. Vol. II, p. 262, ¶ V. Water rights with a *Rockwell* decree genesis include a condition of approval that states "Rockwell By-Pass owners must maintain the by-pass for the entire length of the by-pass capable of carrying 17.36 cfs of water during the irrigation season." R. Vol. II, 216:25-217:3. Thus, owners of the Rockwell Bypass Saved Water Rights decreed in the *Rockwell* decree have a continuing obligation to maintain the Rockwell Bypass in this manner. R. Vol. II, p. 224 (Reinemann Depo., 48:21-49:1) & p. 262. This condition of approval was recently confirmed in the Snake River Basin Adjudication ("SRBA"). Supp'l Tr., 31:10-19, 43:7-16, 193:10-197:19; R. Vol. II, p. 450 (Pl's admitted trial exhibits marked "BWR-5" through "BWR-11," consisting of certified copies of SRBA Partial Decrees for the Rockwell Bypass Saved Water Rights, Water Right No. 37-833D, No. 37-833F, No. 37-833H, No. 37-833K, No. 37-833P, No. 37-833Q, and No. 37-833R).

BWR's surface water rights, in contrast, do not trace their origin to the *Rockwell* decree and do not include a condition of approval requiring maintenance of the Rockwell Bypass. R. Vol. II, 217:5-8. BWR's surface water rights, unlike the Rockwell Bypass Saved Water Rights, have priority dates that date back to 1882 and 1891. R. Vol. II, 214:19-21 & pp. 306-08, 310. Long before the Association was formed in 2002, water was being delivered to BWR via the Rockwell Bypass. Supp'l Tr., 141:12-15 & 149:19-150:10. Even prior to construction of the Rockwell Bypass in or about 1937, water was being delivered to BWR. R. Vol. II, 214:19-21 & pp. 306-08, 310.

7

In late 2008/early 2009, several years after BWR purchased its Property, BWR received its first invoice from the Association. Supp'l Tr., 287:22-289:4. BWR refused to pay the invoice, in part, because BWR was already paying annual dues to Water District No. 37 for the delivery of its surface water rights. Supp'l Tr., 291:10-13 & 292:10-17 & 294:6-22. Signage on BWR's headgate, as well as the Rockwell Bypass headgate, indicate that they are under the authority of the Water District watermaster, or Idaho Department of Water Resources. Supp'l Tr., 94:15-24. After BWR refused to pay the Association's invoices, the Association brought a small claims action against BWR, which was consolidated with this action. R. Vol. 1, pp. 16-20.

C. Summary of Relevant Proceedings

On November 5, 2010, BWR commenced this action, seeking a declaration regarding the rights and obligations of the parties, including a declaration that the Association has not complied with Idaho Code § 42-1301 *et seq.* in either its formation or operations, thus, BWR is under no obligation to pay any past, present or future Association dues. R. Vol. I, pp. 11-15. On December 20, 2011, the Association filed its Answer and Counterclaim, asserting four claims: (1) Count I, seeking a declaration that the Association is validly formed and has authority to act pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-1301 for the purposes of delivering surface irrigation water rights from the point of diversion at the headgate on the Big Wood River through the Broadford Slough and Rockwell Bypass to water users in the Association, (R. Vol. I, p. 24, ¶¶ 7-8, Prayer for Relief, ¶ 1); (2) Count II, seeking an alternative declaration that the land owners who receive surface water through the Rockwell Bypass are obligated to the Association consistent with the general provisions of Idaho Code § 42-1301 *et seq.* (*id.* at p. 24, ¶¶ 9-10, Prayer for Relief, ¶ 2);

(3) Count III, seeking an alternative declaration that the Association has authority to collect assessments from BWR pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-910, and the ability to act as a ditch company pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-901 *et seq.* (*id.* at p. 24, ¶¶ 11-13, Prayer for Relief, ¶ 3); and (4) Count IV, asserting an unspecified cause of action for the recovery of assessments due from BWR in the amount of \$7,550 arising from the Association's furnishing of water to BWR's property via the Slough and Bypass, which the Association claimed it repaired, improved and maintained during 2006 forward. *Id.* at p. 25, ¶¶ 14-18, Prayer for Relief, ¶ 4. On January 9, 2012, BWR filed an Answer to the Counterclaim. R. Vol. I, pp. 30-35. On April 12, 2012, the Association filed a notice waiving all affirmative defenses asserted in its Answer. R. Vol. I, pp. 36-37.

On April 23, 2012, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. R. Vol. I, pp. 38-39, 197-199. On May 21, 2012, a hearing was held on the parties' cross motions for summary judgment. Following oral argument, the District Court ruled from the bench, granting summary judgment in favor of the Association on Count I of the Association's Counterclaim, and denying BWR's motion for summary judgment in its entirety. 5/21/12 Summ. Jdg. Transcript ("Tr."), pp. 1-29.

In its oral summary judgment ruling, the District Court made no mention of the Association's claim in Count III of its Counterclaim, presumably, because that count addresses a separate statutory scheme, Idaho Code § 42-901 *et seq.*, as an alternative basis for finding that the Association is validly formed, and because the District Court found that the Association is validly formed under Section 42-1301, it was unnecessary to rule on Count III.

With respect to Count IV of the Association's Counterclaim, the District Court concluded that disputed issues of fact remained as to whether the Association was entitled to recover assessments due and owing from BWR based on a contract theory, or alternatively, a theory of quantum meruit or unjust enrichment. Tr., pp. 15-16, 22. Specifically, the District Court concluded that disputed factual issues remained regarding whether "there [was] a contract relationship [between the parties arising from] . . . a request for [] service[s]" and, specifically, whether: (1) the individual who had requested delivery of water to BWR's property (Archie Bouttier) was an authorized agent of BWR sufficient to bind BWR under a contract theory to pay the Association for delivery of water received, Tr., pp. 21-22; (2) assuming Mr. Bouttier was not BWR's authorized agent, whether BWR nonetheless ratified the actions of Mr. Bouttier by accepting the benefits associated with receipt of its water, id. at p. 22; (3) whether the Association, versus some other third party, such as the Idaho Department of Water Resources ("IDWR"), was responsible for delivery of BWR's surface water, id. at pp. 22-23; and (4) assuming it was the Association that delivered BWR's surface water, what amount, if any, remains due and owing to the Association by BWR in the form of unpaid Association dues. *Id.* at pp. 21, 23-25. According to the District Court, many of these disputed factual questions related to another primary question for trial, which was whether a party like BWR can "opt out" of membership in a lateral ditch water users' association, or whether, simply by receiving the benefit of an association's maintenance of a lateral ditch and receiving water via the ditch, the recipient of said water is automatically deemed a member of the association, and thereby

obligated to pay for the association's services in the form of dues or assessments. *Id.* at pp. 21-22.

On June 19, 2012, the District Court entered a written Order on Cross Motions for Summary Judgment memorializing its oral rulings made on May 21, 2012. R. Vol. II, pp. 378-79. In its June 19 order, the District Court confirmed that summary judgment was granted in favor of the Association with respect to Count I of its Counterclaim and declared that: (1) the Association is validly formed and has continuing authority to act pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-1301 *et seq.*, and (2) "the Broadford Slough ditch is a <u>canal</u> for purposes of water right delivery pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-1301 *et seq.*" *Id.* (emphasis added). No finding or conclusion was made by the District Court regarding the existence of any lateral ditch maintained by the Association. The District Court also stated in its June 19 order that a legal question exists over whether BWR is a member of the Association, and it concluded that remaining for future hearing is "the issue of the amount of assessments or charges, if any, owing to the [Association] by [BWR]." *Id.*

These issues, and those noted above, were tried before the District Court, without a jury, on November 13, 2012, December 18, 2012, and January 4, 2013. Supp'l Tr., pp. 1-431. On February 28, 2013, the District Court entered its written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Judgment in favor of the Association. R. Vol. II, pp. 391-406.

With respect to its legal conclusions, the District Court concluded:

1) The Broadford Slough is a "canal" for purposes of establishing a lateral ditch water user's association under Section 42-1301, and the distinction between a "canal" and a

"ditch" is irrelevant for purposes of Idaho Code § 42-1301 et seq., R. Vol. II, pp. 399-400 (CL#1)); and

2) BWR is obligated to pay past due assessments to the Association based upon either of the following: (i) the applicable statute, Idaho Code § 42-1301 *et seq.*; (ii) an express contract that existed between the parties for the Association to deliver water to BWR's Property; or (iii) the doctrines of unjust enrichment or quantum meruit. *Id.* at p. 401 (CL#3).6

The District Court's February 28 Judgment provides that: (1) BWR's Complaint is dismissed with prejudice; (2) the Association is validly formed and has continuing authority to act pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-1301 *et seq.*; and (3) judgment is entered against BWR in favor of the Association in the total amount of \$9,500, together with a 10% penalty added to each delinquent assessment, plus interest. *Id.* at pp. 404-05.

On March 14, 2013, BWR filed a timely Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend the judgment, arguing that the District Court committed numerous legal and factual errors in rendering its February 28 Judgment. R. Vol. II, pp. 425-26 & Pl's Memo. in Supp. of Motion to Alter/Amend Judgment filed 3/28/13 included in augmentation to Clerk's Record pursuant to Court's 2/21/14 Order. The District Court granted in part and denied in part BWR's post-trial motion on June 13, 2013, and later on June 18, 2013, by issuing two separate orders, and simultaneously entering amended judgments that reflected amendments to a few of the District

⁶ The specific factual findings made by the District Court, which are the subject of this appeal, are identified in more detail in the relevant sections below.

Court's factual findings. R. Vol. II, pp. 434-42. The District Court ultimately left untouched the crux of its original Judgment in favor of the Association, which provides that the Association is validly formed, it is authorized to act in the manner that it has, and that BWR owes \$9,500 in delinquent assessments, penalties, interest and attorney's fees and costs to the Association. R. Vol. II, pp. 404-05.

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