Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-9-2014

Big Wood Ranch, LLC v. Water Users' Ass'n of Broadford Slough and Rockwell Bypass Lateral Ditches, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41265

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

1

once was. Even if the Broadford Slough had been proven by clear and convincing evidence to have been a natural channel at the dawn of civilization, the Idaho Supreme Court's holding in *Dayley, supra*, would support the Association's position. Certainly, there is no moving body of water or current in the Broadford Slough during the entire irrigation season, a finding which was required to constitute a natural water course in *Loosli v. Heseman*, 66 Idaho 469, 481, 162 P.2d 393 (1945). See also *Burgess v. Salmon River Canal Co. Ltd.*, 119 Idaho 299, 805 P.2d 1223 (1991). In *Burgess*, the Court found that the Salmon Falls dam had impeded the flow of the creek, but that 25 cfs of seepage continued to flow through the abutments of the dam into the original channel. As a result, the channel met the criteria of a natural water course because water continually flowed in the channel. Kevin Lakey's Affidavit clearly establishes that during the irrigation season, checkboards placed in the Broadford Slough allow no water right delivery. R., Vol. 1, p. 115 at ¶ 7. The Affidavit of Leroy Lewis attested to the fact that the Broadford Slough was dried up in the winter months to prevent flooding. R., Vol. 1, p. 108 at ¶ 5.

This case bears certain similarities to the Court's decision in *Independent Irrigation Co. Ltd. v. Baldwin*, 43 Idaho 371, 252 P. 489 (1926). In that case, Independent Irrigation Company filed suit against the water master for attempting to prevent the diversion and use of water by the Company. The Company claimed an entitlement to use of the water without interference by the water master, because they had constructed "a tight and permanent dam maintained by them, across the slough." The appellants had been using the water in the slough and the natural springs that arose in the slough. The Court stated: The evidence further shows that from the date of the construction of the dam by appellants Scott Slough ceased to be a tributary of Snake River.

43 Idaho at 376. Not unlike the case of *Independent Irrigation Co., supra*, the facts of the instant case show that a tight and permanent dike or levee was constructed by the Army Corps of Engineers, and has operated for more than fifty (50) years. The only water that came into the Broadford Slough ditch from that point is water that has been diverted from the Big Wood River through the ditch to the Broadford Slough headgate. The fact that water may rise into the slough downstream through springs does not change the characterization of the ditch. It is not a natural channel, and the Association is entitled to continue to operate, repair and maintain its ditches pursuant to the statutes governing lateral ditch water users' associations. More than 100 years ago, the California Supreme Court considered a party's claim that a levee placed across a slough did not change the character of the slough's channel from being a natural watercourse. The Court in *Lamb v. Reclamation District No. 108*, 73 Cal. 125, 14 P. 625 (1887), rejected that claim.

The Sacramento River is a large navigable stream, having its sources near the boundary line between the states of Oregon and California, and running for several hundred miles through the northern and central parts of the latter state to the bay of San Francisco. In times of high water it frequently overflows its banks. A great deal of the adjoining land is lower than the banks of the stream; and at times of overflow the surplus water runs down to and over such land, where it remains until it evaporates, or, later in the season when the river is at a lower stage, runs back into the stream. The water at some places pours over the entire bank in continuous sheets for considerable distances, but more commonly finds its way out through the lower parts, or depressions, of the banks, which of course have gradually been worn down deeper and wider by the action of the water. These short depressions by which the water gets through the banks into the lower lands beyond are called sloughs; and Wilkins Slough, mentioned in the complaint, is quite a large

depression of that character, and affords means of escape during overflows for a considerable quantity of water. The lands thus overflowed, and for the protection of which respondent claims the right to maintain said levee, are a part of that large body of swamp and overflowed land acquired by California from the United States by virtue of the act of Congress of September 28, 1850, generally known as the Arkansas act.

73 Cal. at 126. Continuing, the Court stated:

Counsel for appellant contends that Wilkins Slough is within the legal definition of a "watercourse," and argues for the application here of the doctrine that one land-owner on a watercourse cannot dam it so as to flood the land of his neighbor above. But in the first place, appellant is not a riparian owner upon Wilkins Slough. His land is two miles away, and divided from it by a large navigable river. He has no interest in whatever rights landowners on Wilkins Slough, if there were any, might have as between themselves. In the second place, we do not think that Wilkins Slough, as between appellant and respondent at least, is to be treated as a watercourse within the legal meaning of that word. It occasionally happens that a river, in its course from its source to its mouth, divides into two main, permanent channels, each carrying continuously a large part, if not a moiety, of its waters at all stages, and either uniting with the other at a lower point, or continuing to the sea, leaving a delta between the two. But there is nothing here resembling that condition. Wilkins Slough is not a channel or fork, continuously carrying a large part, or any part, of the waters of the Sacramento River. It carries no water at all except "in times of flood," and then the amount which it carries, when compared with the volume of water in the river, is insignificant. In fact, it has no original water of its own at all, but is simply a conduit by which occasionally some of the floodwater of the river escapes into the lower lands adjoining. This same office is performed by every other low place along the bank; and every other part of the levee could be removed as a nuisance if that part of it which is at Wilkins Slough can be so removed. Upon this point we cannot distinguish the case at bar from the case of S. & B. Turnpike Co. v. Green, 99 Ind. 205, where it was held that plaintiff could protect his land from overflow of the Big Blue River by erecting a levee on its bank at a place where there was "a depression washed out across the lands of plaintiff," and where,

24

25

26

"when there was a rise in said river, the water passed out over said lands of plaintiff," although it caused a greater overflow on the premises of defendant, to its damage.

(Emphasis in original). 73 Cal. at 134-35.

Whether or not Idaho would embrace the California Court's logic in Lamb, it appears

that Idaho case law is supportive of the district court's finding in this case. BWR has cited

Loosli, supra, a case which relied on Hutchinson v. Watson Slough Ditch Co., Ltd., 16 Idaho

484, 101 P. 1059 (1909) in order to reach its decision. In Hutchinson, supra, this Court stated:

"Watson slough is now and at all times herein mentioned and from time immemorial has been a natural watercourse, diverting water from the Snake river, on the west side thereof, and two and one-half miles southwest of Blackfoot, in Bingham County Idaho, and flowing through the said described land of the plaintiff, and on in a general southwesterly direction, emptying its waters into the said Snake river, the said watercourse being about seven or eight miles in length."

There was a sharp conflict in the evidence as to the natural character of Watson slough, -- as to whether or not it had always carried a stream of water or whether it was dry during certain seasons of the year. It must be conceded, however, that much of the evidence sustains the contention that it is a natural watercourse and has from time immemorial carried a constant stream of water. The court found in favor of this contention. It being conceded by both parties that the court entertained the correct view of the law as to what constitutes a watercourse, it necessarily follows that the court, in arriving at his conclusions of fact, necessarily did so in view and understanding of the correct principle of law. The presumption is strongly in favor of the correctness of the court's finding of fact on that question. Under the well-established rule with reference to findings based on conflicting evidence, we must sustain the finding on this proposition.

(Emphasis added). 16 Idaho at 488-89. The Court is urged to recall the testimony of Kevin

Lakey that no water flows down the Broadford Slough during the irrigation season because it was all diverted into the Rockwell Bypass. R., Vol. 1, p. 115 at \P 7. Additionally, Leroy Lewis attested to the fact that the Broadford Slough had been dried up in the winter months to prevent flooding in the Bellevue area. R., Vol. 1, p. 108 at \P 5.

The Court will recall the district court's finding in this case that if the Association did not undertake work in the channel of the Big Wood River to remove accumulated debris and silt during low flow periods, no water would ever get into the Broadford Slough. Only at a point below where the Rockwell Bypass rejoined the Broadford Slough channel was it considered to have "original water" of its own that resulted in the IDWR characterizing that portion of the Broadford Slough channel as a natural watercourse.

If anyone would have known how the Idaho Department of Water Resources had characterized the Broadford Slough as not being a natural stream, it would had to have been Terry Blau, the Stream Channel Protection Program Administrator. During his 35 years of employment with the IDWR, he was aware that the segment of the Broadford Slough beginning at the confluence of the Big Wood River was not regarded as a natural stream until a point below where the Rockwell Bypass rejoined the slough, and became a gaining reach. R., Vol. 1, p. 83 at ¶ 5. It was only after that point that the IDWR regarded the channel as a natural stream. *Id.* Were that not the case, it is apparent that any construction activities in the upper reach of the slough would have been regulated by the IDWR.

Mr. Blau, who submitted an Affidavit under oath, stated as follows:

During the time of my employment with the IDWR, and in my role as the Stream Channel Protection Specialist, the segment of the

Ditch beginning at the confluence of the Big Wood River was not regarded as a natural stream until a point below where the Rockwell By-pass rejoined the slough and became a gaining reach. At that point, the IDWR regarded the channel as a natural stream for purposes of regulation under the Stream Channel Alteration statutes.

R., Vol. 1, p. 83 at ¶ 5.

In BWR's opening Brief, as in the trial of this matter, BWR suggested that the Association does not have any legal right to charge for the maintenance and operation of the Broadford Slough ditch "over which the IDWR has exclusive responsibility." BWR's Opening Brief at p. 26. Kevin Lakey, the District 37 Watermaster, was careful to explain that the IDWR's responsibility for delivery of irrigation water did not include any responsibility beyond diverting water into the Broadford Slough. Tr., p. 190, LL. 1-16. He testified that the IDWR had no repair or maintenance responsibility for either the Broadford Slough or the Rockwell Bypass channels. Tr., p. 198, LL. 3-10. It is clear that there is nothing in law or practice that obligates the IDWR to maintain this or any other irrigation delivery system. Lakey testified that he was aware that the Association had conducted substantial work on the ditches and the headgates, and that the Association's management of the water rights delivery on the slough and bypass made administration simpler for the IDWR. R., Vol. 1, p. 115 at ¶ 8-9. As the court observed, without such maintenance activities being performed on those ditches, surface water rights would be incapable of being diverted, conveyed or delivered. R., Vol. 2, p. 396 at ¶ 14. The court also specifically found that the administrative functions of Water District No. 37 ceased at the point where water is diverted out of the Big Wood River into the channel leading to the Broadford Slough headgate. R., Vol. 2, p. 398 at ¶ 18. Finally, the court found that neither

Water District No. 37 nor the IDWR does any maintenance or repair to the ditches of the Broadford Slough or the Rockwell Bypass. *Id.* Even if the Broadford Slough was once a natural channel, it is apparent that it is not today. Mr. Lakey responded to a question posed by Judge Elgee, and informed him that when the Broadford Slough headgate was closed, water would simply back up to the level of the river and stay in the river. Tr., p. 215, LL. 20-24.

E. More than three parties take their water from a common point of diversion.

BWR has asserted that the court failed to make a finding that three or more parties take their water from a common point of diversion. However, the court did find that all Association members' surface water is diverted at the same point in the Big Wood River into the ditch that leads to the Broadford Slough headgate. The court specifically found that all of the water diverted from the Big Wood River into the Broadford Slough ditch is ultimately diverted into the Rockwell Bypass. R., Vol. 2, p. 397 at ¶ 16. Because the membership roster of the Association clearly includes more than three parties, and because the court found that all waters diverted for the water right owners was necessarily diverted at the same point on the river into the Broadford Slough ditch, the Association contends that BWR's arguments in this regard are devoid of merit.

F. The Rockwell Bypass.

BWR contends that the Rockwell Decree mandates the saved water right holders to exclusively maintain the Rockwell Bypass. However, as the court specifically found,

There is nothing in the Rockwell Decree that provides that the saved water right owners have an exclusive obligation to maintain the Rockwell Bypass for the benefit of other users. R., Vol. 2, p. 397 at ¶ 16. As observed by the district court, there are many water users besides the saved water right owners whose water rights are transported via the Rockwell Bypass. There is nothing that mandated that the half-dozen or so saved water right owners had to get out with a pick and shovel to maintain the bypass to the exclusion of other downstream water users whose water rights were transported in the Rockwell Bypass channel. More importantly, the court acknowledged that there was nothing in the Rockwell Decree that mandated the saved water right owners to maintain the first half-mile of the Broadford Slough ditch between the Big Wood River and the Rockwell Bypass headgate. If that work wasn't legitimately performed by the Association, then no one, including the saved water right owners, would be able to have their water rights delivered. The court concluded that there was more maintenance required to deliver BWR's water then just the maintenance work to be performed on the Rockwell Bypass itself, and there was no *exclusive* obligation on the part of the Rockwell Bypass saved water right owners to maintain the Bypass when many other water users utilized the same delivery system, R., Vol. 2, p. 401 ¶ 2.

G. Affirming the district court's decision will not interfere or complicate the state's administration of water rights.

At page 33 of BWR's opening Brief, BWR asserts, *ipse dixit*, that affirming the district court's decision will complicate and interfere with the state's administration of water rights. It is interesting to note that the Association had conducted its maintenance activities for a decade before BWR made this assertion. It is even more interesting for this Court to note what Kevin Lakey stated in his Affidavit regarding the very issue now raised by BWR:

The Association's management of the delivery of water rights on the Slough and the Bypass have made the administration of those water rights much simpler for the IDWR to administer.

R., Vol. 1, p. 115 at ¶ 9.

H.

BWR was not a bona fide purchaser.

Although not raised as an issue on appeal, BWR has obliquely referred to its arguments to the district court that it was a bona fide purchaser ("BFP") without notice of the role of the Association. See BWR's Opening Brief at p. 6, fn. 4. Given the possibility that BWR may again refer to this argument in its Reply Brief, the Association feels compelled to address it here.

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